1953

Verda S. Blotter v. Ernest Fred Blotter : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Plaintiff and defendant were married May 11, 1932 at Logan, Utah and from that marriage 3 children were born, all boys, and their respective ages are 18 years, 14 years and 12 years (R 22). All the property of the parties was substantially acquired during their marriage.

The plaintiff received a divorce from the defendant on the 9th day of April, 1938 (R 9), but an Order of the Court on the same date kept the Decree from becoming final until the further order of the Court (R 9). On September 24, 1952, plaintiff petitioned the Court for an order dismissing the divorce action (R 11) and on

the 23rd of December, 1952 the decree was vacated (R 16).

Defendant filed his Answer and Counter-claim for divorce denying the cruelty alleged against him in plaintiff's complaint and requested that a divorce be granted him and that certain property be awarded him. (R 17) Plaintiff filed her reply to counter-claim denying cruelty R 18). Defendant filed amended Counter-claim charging plaintiff with cruelty during their entire married life (R 19). To this plaintiff filed her Amended Reply to Counter-claim in which is contained the 2nd and 3rd defenses; the second defense pleads condonation by defendant, and the third defense pleads recrimination. (R 20).

Plaintiff having petitioned for and received an order vacating the decree of divorce granted her some 14 years previous, the proceedings were as to whether defendant was entitled to a decree of divorce on his Counter-claim. Plaintiff does not ask for one.

The Court among other things granted defendant a divorce, awarded the 3 children to plaintiff with support consisting of \$25.00 per month per child during non-school months and \$35.00 per child during school months; granted plaintiff \$25.00 per month for herself as alimony; awarded plaintiff a tenancy in common with the defendant of the parties' real property which is valued at approximately \$16,000.00 (R 23) with orders that lots not needed in connection with the home be sold

and proceeds applied to payment on mortgage of said real property; that the car be also sold and proceeds applied on payment of mortgage and that defendant pay the balance of mortgage; defendant also to pay taxes and keep up the home on the outside until the parties' child reached majority which would be in 9 years, with the further provision that plaintiff and the children should have exclusive possession and custody of the home until the youngest child should reach its majority, which, as we have mentioned before would be 9 years (R 25). Plaintiff was also awarded all household furniture and equipment valued at \$1,500.00 (R 23).

The defendant makes between \$3,300.00 and \$4,500.00 per year gross, before his living expense when away from home are taken out (R 22, 143, 194). Plaintiff had control of family money (R 48). Defendant would get \$5.00 or \$10.00 out of each check for allowance (R 43).

We shall show further facts in our discussion of the points which we believe should have a bearing upon the awards made in the decree of divorce. To avoid redundancy or duplicity certain of the points will be discussed together.

ARGUMENT

Point No. 1. The Court erred in finding that defendant stayed out late hours, had ignored his wife and paid some attention to another woman during coverture, and even if true, in not finding that such conduct was not blameworthy.

Point No. 2. The Court erred in that part of paragraph 1 of its conclusions which held that defendant had been guilty of any misconduct whatsoever.

It is respectfully submitted that the making of such a finding and arriving at such conclusion is unjustified by the record. It is true that defendant did stay out late at night but it was justifiable. Here the plaintiff, from 1933, almost from the time of marriage, commenced a loose life with other men. In the year 1933, while in California, she tried to get into the bathroom while the husband of another lady was taking a bath (R 78, 184) and said bather had to lock the door to keep her out. She was also found in a very compromising position with the same sought after bather afterward (R 78). From such a beginning emerged other incidents such as dancing unbecomingly close with other men (R 47), kissing other men (R 48), fooling with other men since her marriage (R 54), associated with a fruit man (R 84), saying to one Mr. Wuthrich that one of them may as well sleep with her and that "I'll keep my pants on, there won't be anything done." (R 91), playing leap frog with men and offering to wrestle them (R 91), saying to defendant she wished he were dead (R 50), keeping a filthy house (R 59, 133), nagging defendant (R 9), feeding him sandwiches for the most part of their married life (R 59) saying to one Don Campbell after he had done some electrical work for plaintiff and defendant that: "I don't know just when

I can pay you for your services, Don, other than for the material. Maybe we'll have to arrange to take it out in trade'' (R 181). That such conduct, constituting cruelty as the Court found, would not keep a man out late in evenings and somewhat ignore his wife then nothing would, nor could there ever be any excuse if this is not one for a husband so doing. So defendant says his conduct in this regard is entirely excusable and justified (R 187). These evenings were not spent with other women but were spent playing pool and cards (R 187, 195).

In respect to the other part of the finding that defendant paid some attention to another woman, there is no proper evidence to support such a finding. Plaintiff complained in this regard that she found lip stick on Mr. Blotter's handkerchief. To this Mr. Blotter replied that it came from Mrs. Blotter's lip stick which she knew was in his pocket (R 188), and that he never had any improper relations with said lady (R 187) nor did he ever take the lady from any dance (R 188). The plaintiff testified that it was only the last six months that she really had any complaint (R 152) to make, but the finding covers the whole of their coverture which is certainly wrong and is not supported by the evidence.

Point No. 3. The Court erred in finding that it would be reasonable for defendant to pay plaintiff \$25.00 per month alimony; to award her a tenancy in common with the defendant in the real property of the parties with exclusive possession in her until the youngest child

reached the age of his majority; to have lots sold that were not needed for the home and proceeds applied to the payment of mortgage as also the proceeds from the sale of the car and that defendant pay any balance on the mortgage after these moneys were paid; to pay all taxes on the real property until the youngest child reached the age of majority and to maintain the outside of the home during the minority of the youngest child and in not finding defendant should have $\frac{2}{3}$ of all property. **OR VALUE THEREOF.**

Point No. 4. The Court erred in its conclusions of law, paragraphs 3 to 7 inclusive, (R 22, 23) in concluding that plaintiff was entitled to \$25.00 per month alimony, all furniture and equipment in home; that she further was entitled to a tenancy in common with defendant in the home with exclusive right of occupancy of said home for herself and children until youngest child should reach his majority; and that lots not necessary for the home be sold and car be sold and proceeds applied to payment of mortgage on home; and further, that defendant should be made to pay any balance owing on home after aforesaid proceeds were applied; that he should pay all taxes on home and maintain the outside of home until the majority of the youngest child, then 12 years of age, be reached; and that alimony payments payable to plaintiff by defendant should be secured by a lien upon defendant's interest in the real property and in not concluding that defendant should be awarded $\frac{2}{3}$ of all property. **OR VALUE THEREOF.**

Point No. 5. The Court erred in its Decree of Divorce paragraphs 3 to 8 inclusive (R 25, 26) which decreed and adjudged that plaintiff have judgment against defendant for \$25.00 per month alimony; of being awarded all furniture and equipment and further awarded a tenancy in common with defendant in the home of the parties with the provision that plaintiff and the children of the parties have exclusive possession of home until youngest child reaches his majority; that lots not need-

ed for the home be sold and car be sold and proceeds applied to payment of mortgage on home, and further, that defendant pay any balance owing on home after said proceeds from sale of lots and car had been applied, and that defendant pay all taxes on home during the minority of youngest child and that he keep and maintain the outside of the home and that alimony payments be secured by a lien upon defendant's interest in the real property and in not awarding defendant $\frac{2}{3}$ of all property. *OR VALUE THEREOF.*

These three points of error we will discuss together. They all go to what defendant maintains is a most inequitable awarding of property and alimony to the plaintiff.

Here we have a man and woman whom have accumulated this property during their 20 years of married life. It is true that Mrs. Blotter has brought some income into the home, but it is negligible when compared to that of Mr. Blotter, and earned by him when in a most precarious state of health. Mrs. Blotter never worked during their marriage until December of 1944 (R 141) and then she cooked at a school off and on for about 4 years, between 1945 and 1949. As far as the record shows she made about \$452.00 per year and that at the expense of having an unkept house and against Mr. Blotter's will (R 186). She has good health—so the findings show (R 22) and is very capable of working much more than Mr. Blotter is. Though she did work and bring in some money, yet her mother lived with them for some years (R 155) without any payment for her board and room. None is disclosed by the re-

cord. So it is only fair to say that her mother lived, at least in part, on the income of Mr. Blotter. It can be fairly said that all the property of the parties was acquired by the labor and earnings of Mr. Blotter.

The income of the older boy is almost if not sufficient to take care of himself. In 1951 he made \$700.00 (R 92) and we believe it is only fair to assume his income will increase. The other boy of 14 years also works in the summer time and comes into some income therefrom. (R 92).

It should not be overlooked that the income of Mr. Blotter for the last year while in reached \$4,500.00, it was made only by his working 10 hours a day and 7 days a week (R 59, 194). Obviously such a thing cannot be continued, nor should be required. Certainly a little recreation should yet be a part of Mr. Blotter's life. Mr. Blotter's work, too, is of such a nature, being a bull dozer operator, that it will be only a few years at the most that he will be suited for such work, for such work is not for men over 50 years of age.

From the facts that appear under our discussion of point 1 and 2, and the facts appearing under this discussion on points 3, 4 and 5, the question may then be asked: Was the award made in this matter fair and equitable to both parties? That Mrs. Blotter got almost everything they had accumulated during their married life is apparent, plus future taxes to be paid

for the next 9 years on the real property, and alimony of \$25.00 per month. Added to this is the order of the lower Court that Mr. Blotter must come around and maintain the outside of the premises which would naturally include keeping the weeds down, cutting the grass, watering the lawn and making repairs on the house and buildings. The Court even went so far as to take an old jalopy of 1940 vintage that Mr. Blotter used in getting to work and order the same sold. In dollars and cents this is what Mrs. Blotter was awarded:

1. One half of house and lot \$8,000.00
2. Nine years of use of defendant's part of house and lot, worth in rent we should say \$50.00 per month, Total 5,400.00
3. Taxes paid over 9 year period would be about \$200.00 per year. Total 1,800.00
4. After lots are sold, there would be at least \$1,900.00 to pay on mortgage 1,900.00
5. Furniture and household equipment 1,500.00
6. Upkeep of outside of home would run at at least \$200.00 per year. Total for 9 years 1,800.00
7. Alimony \$25.00 per month would equal \$200.00 per year. As her life expectancy is 20 years, Total 6,000.00

Now what was awarded Mr. Blotter? His largest income has been \$4,500.00 which seemingly was for a single year, 1952 (R 194). This was earned by working 10 hours a day and 7 days a week (R 59). This is a schedule that not even the most robust man can keep up. This being so, his true income must be figured

not from abnormal working hours and days, but from normal working hours and days. Thus figured, he should not work 70 hours a week but 48 hours per week, which would make his income approximately 5/7th of \$4,500.00 or \$3,214.00 per year. Out of this he must pay \$300.00 a year to plaintiff as alimony; \$1,020.00 for support money per year; about \$200.00 as taxes on home per year. \$200.00 to keep and maintain the appearance of the outside of the home; about \$200.00 per year on mortgage payments after \$900.00 is applied on it from sale of the lots. This leaves Mr. Blotter approximately \$1,200.00 for his years work. After paying his living expense he would have nothing left.

Beside the \$1,200.00 he has to live on, he has an equity in the house of the approximate value, after 9 years, of \$2,600.00. This for 21 years of his working married life, a married life that was anything but happy as seen from our discussion of points 1 and 2 which we would have the court reflect on. Compare this \$2,600.00 with the total given to Mrs. Blotter which amounts to \$24,500.00 distributed to her during her expectancy of life and we have something which shows, in our opinion, anything but an equitable and fair settlement of property rights—stripping Mr. Blotter of almost everything.

While it is recognized that property division and alimony awards rest in the sound legal discretion of the trial court, appellant feels that in this particular case

there was no sound basis for the trial court's award. The general rule is the award of one-third to the wife as proper, and citations of this holding we deem superfluous. There is nothing appearing from the evidence of this case to justify taking it out of the general rule.

It should not be forgotten that the large or older boy is capable of making substantial money when not in school (in 1951 he made \$700.00 as has heretofore been observed). And the smaller or 14 year old boy also works. These boys could very well have taken care of maintaining the grounds around the home, but the Court below saw fit to impose even that duty on Mr. Blotter.

Not only does the evidence indicate a most inequitable award, but the trial court, after defendant had refused certain proposed awards or settlement, recognized the severity of the matter when it spoke thus: "They'll be much harsher now than they were before. Do you want to think it over? He's going to pay more support money and the mortgage off after the lots are sold, and she's going to get the property" (R 203, 204).

CONCLUSION

It is respectfully submitted that the award made by the trial court failed to justly divide the property between the parties to this action and was an abuse of discretion. It would have been reasonable for the court to have ordered the sale of the home and lots, and the

net proceeds divided, one-third to plaintiff and two-thirds to defendant, or at the very most, divided the money received evenly between plaintiff and defendant. In that case Mrs. Blotter could have purchased a home for herself that would be suitable for herself and the minor children. That, defendant feels, is the most she should have received. Under such an arrangement no alimony should have been awarded to the offending plaintiff, and appellant respectfully requests this court to modify said award of property and alimony as here outlined and in conformity with the equities.