1953

Verda S. Blotter v. Ernest Fred Blotter : Brief of Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Plaintiff's statement of facts will be brief, for the reason that due to the nature of defendant's appeal it will be necessary for the court to search the record in determining whether or not the appeal is meritorious, and for the further reason that defendant's brief sets out the salient facts which need not be repeated.

At the trial plaintiff testified that she did not want a divorce (R. 151, 152, 153) and since plaintiff felt at that time that the marriage might be saved, she asked the court to vacate the previous award in her favor and dismiss her complaint (R. 11) which was done by the court. (R. 16, 30). Following the trial, the court indicated that he felt a divorce was necessary in this case even though plaintiff did not want one, but that the court would withhold its decision until *Hendricks vs. Hendricks*, 257 P (2)

366, was decided by this court. (R. 197, 198). Following this court's opinion in the Hendricks case to the effect that the doctrine of recrimination is not an absolute one to be applied in all cases, the court (R. 201) awarded defendant a divorce on his counter-claim even though the court found the defendant partially at fault. (R. 22, 23, 198).

ARGUMENT

At the trial, plaintiff testified that she did not want a divorce to be granted. However, because of subsequent development indicating that it will be impossible for the parties to live together as husband and wife, plaintiff has not cross-appealed herein, although in our opinion, the record shows defendant guilty of such unconscionable conduct as to warrant the court refusing him equitable relief. (R. 66, 67, 68 and Exhibit "A"). Plaintiff so moved the court at the close of defendant's case, but this motion was denied by the court. (R. 99, 100). Since it subsequently became apparent that the marriage will not work out, plaintiff does not ask this court to interfere with the divorce granted.

We agree with the District Court that this is a case covered by the doctrine announced in *Hendricks vs. Hendricks*, (May 15, 1953), 257 P (2) 366, and we further agree with this Court's decision in said case, that in many instances, a divorce should be awarded even though both parties are at fault. This is such a case.

The sole question seems to be: When a court grants a divorce where both parties are at fault, and minor children are involved, how should matters of alimony, support and property settlement be determined?

The parties have been married 20 years. Plaintiff secured a divorce in 1938, when the parties had one child. A reconciliation followed, and the parties have lived together until the present difficulty. They now have three children. The defendant now wants and has secured a divorce, even though he is not blameless. In addition, he now wants two-thirds of the property and claims plaintiff is not entitled to alimony. Amazingly, defendant does not complain at paying \$25.00 and \$35.00 per month per child for child support. It is to be noted that the court in making this award stated (R. 205): "This is the lowest I've ever fixed it." Apparently defendant does not want to take this fact into consideration on the over all award.

In the Hendricks case, this court points out that in situations of this sort, where both parties are at fault, the practical thing to do is grant a divorce and settle the property rights of the parties, giving due consideration to the applicable factors outlined by this Court in MacDonald vs. MacDonald, (Nov. 1, 1951) 236 P (2) 1066.

The point to be determined is whether or not the District Court settled the property matters in such a manner.

In the MacDonald case this Court said:

"This appears to be one of those cases where the marriage had so far deteriorated that there was nothing for the court to do except to recognize the failure, and to use the fairly common phrase, "pronounce a benediction on the wreck;" then proceed to make the

best arrangement of the property and income of the parties so that they could readjust their lives to the new situation as well as possible.

It is true, as plaintiff maintains, that this court has announced the doctrine that in divorce cases it will weigh the evidence and may substitute its judgment for that of the trial court. (Citing cases). Nevertheless, this court should not do so lightly, nor merely because its judgment may differ from that of the trial Judge. We adhere to the qualifications set forth in the more recent expressions of this Court: that the judgment will not be disturbed unless the evidence clearly preponderates against the finding of the trial court; or there has been a plain abuse of discretion; or where a manifest injustice or inequity is wrought. *Anderson vs. Anderson*, 104 Utah 104, 138 P. 2d 252; *Allen vs. Allen*, 109 Utah 99, 165 P. 2d 872. See discussion of this point by Mr. Justice Turner in the latter case."

We submit that the evidence does not clearly preponderate against the finding of the trial court; nor has there been a plain abuse of discretion; nor has there been a manifest injustice or in equity wrought by the trial courts decision. See also *Pfaff vs. Pfaff*, Utah, 241 P (2d) 156.

This court further says in the *MacDonald* case:

"Although the question of fault is not by any means to be entirely disregarded in determining the rights to property and alimony, it is settled that a spouse against whom a divorce is granted may under some circumstances be awarded adequate alimony."

We could continue on and reiterate the various factors discussed by this court to be considered, but since the court has so recently had occasion to discuss this at length, little good would be accomplished by restating them here.

As to the evidence concerning these various points, the record shows that practically all of the property has been acquired during the marriage as a result of their joint efforts. (R. 160, 161, 165, 166, 167, 169). One exception seems to be the piano, which plaintiff purchased before marriage. (R. 161).

In his brief, defendant uses as one of his arguments favoring an award of most of the property to him the fact that plaintiff never worked until 1944. (Appellant's brief P. 7). Yet at the trial he complained bitterly that she was always wanting to work over his objection. (R. 41).

The fact is that it was necessary for plaintiff to go to work in 1948 or 1949, at defendant's request in order to help pay for the home. (R. 155). The record bears out the fact that plaintiff was willing to work, but apparently defendant would not let her. In fact, plaintiff had taught school for many years before marriage, (R. 155) and apparently gave this job up for the marriage. Now the defendant wants this court to deprive plaintiff of her property settlement and alimony because she didn't work.

The record also discloses that a good deal of plaintiff's inherited funds went toward the payment of the home. (R. 169).

In short, the record seems to bear out the justification of the trial court's award. In the MacDonald case the trial

court's award to the wife was much greater in proportion than in the present case, and the court in the present case made an express finding supported by the evidence, that the husband was not blameless, but was guilty of misconduct, which factor was apparently not present in the MacDonald case.

CONCLUSION

We contend that more than a preponderance of the evidence supports the trial Court's findings and decision relating to the division of the parties property and as to alimony.